**RECEIVED**

**Jun 24 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CLARENDON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Bryan S. Doby and Honorable R. Kirk Griffin  
Clarendon County  
Trial Court Case No. Case No. 2024-CP-14-00106

---

Appellate Case No. 2025-002568

---

Elgin M. Selbee

Respondent,

v.

Palmetto Shores RE Holdings, LLC  
and Palmetto Shores  
RV Management, LLC

Appellants.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

---

Hal E. Cobb, Esq.  
J. Caroline Lista, Esq.  
Cobb Hammett Law Firm  
222 W. Coleman Blvd.,  
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464  
[hcobb@cobbhammett.com](mailto:hcobb@cobbhammett.com)

## **ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. Did the Trial Court abuse its discretion in denying Appellants' motion for relief from Default based on improper service rendering the judgment void under South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 60(b)(4)?
2. Did the Trial Court abuse its discretion in denying Appellants' motion for relief from Default due to mistake pursuant to South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 60(b)(4)?
3. Did the Trial Court abuse its discretion in denying Appellants' motion to dismiss pursuant to South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 4(d)(3)?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This appeal arises from orders denying Appellants' motion for relief from default judgment based on improper service rendering the judgment void, a denial of Appellants' motion for relief from default judgment based on mistake and a denial of Appellants' motion to dismiss.

On March 6, 2024, Elgin M. Selbee ("Respondent" or "Selbee") filed a Summons and two-count Complaint against Palmetto Shores Management, LLC and Palmetto Shores RE Holdings alleging assault and battery and negligent supervision [Compl.]. Respondent attempted service on Appellants on three separate occasions. [3/11/24 Affidavit of Non-Service; 5/27/24 Affidavit of Non-Service; 6/24/24 Affidavit of Non-Service].

Respondent first attempted service on Appellants on March 11, 2024, by mailing a copy of the Summons and Complaint, via United States Postal Service, return receipt requested to the registered agent, George McLaughlin using the address on the South Carolina Secretary of State, 105 E. North Street Ste 201 Greenville, South Carolina, 29601. [3/11/24 Affidavit of Non-Service]. This mailing was returned unsigned. [3/11/24 Affidavit of Non-Service]. Respondent then attempted to effectuate personal service of the Summons and Complaint on Appellants on

May 27, 2024. [5/27/24 Affidavit of Non-Service]. Respondent received an affidavit of non-service which provided, “George is 74 years old and in a wheel chair. He stated that he moved from Fayetteville, NC to Myrtle Beach and has no idea what Palmetto Shores RE holdings, LLC or Palmetto Shores RV Management is. Unable to locate the subject at the address provided.” [5/27/24 Affidavit of Non-Service].

On June 20, 2024, Respondent conducted a second attempt of personal service on Appellants at the address listed with the South Carolina Secretary of State. [6/24/24 Affidavit of Non-Service]. Respondent received an affidavit of non-service, which included the following statement from Respondent’s process server:

[a]ttempted service at the address provided. I spoke to a receptionist at the front desk whom stated George McLaughlin does not work at this business. The business in that building is Viking Mergers & Acquisitions of Greenville, SC. Unable to locate the subject at the address provided.

[6/24/24 Affidavit of Non-Service].

On July 12, 2024, after learning the Respondent’s registered agent was not located at address listed on the South Carolina Secretary of State, Respondent attempted service on Appellants by and through the South Carolina Secretary of State. [7/12/24 Affidavit of Service]. Respondent sent a copy of the summons and complaint to the South Carolina Secretary for the South Carolina Secretary of State to serve upon Appellants at the address listed on the South Carolina Secretary of State. [7/12/24 Affidavit of Service].

On September 11, 2024, Respondent filed an Affidavit of Default and motion for Judgment by Default. [Affidavit of Default]. On April 21, 2025, the Honorable R. Kirk Griffin entered an order of default judgment in favor of the Respondent in the amount of One Hundred Thousand

Four Hundred Thirty-Four and 00/100 Dollars (\$100,434.00) (“Judgment”) [Judgment Order at 6].

Thereafter, on May 1, 2025, Appellants filed a Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure Rule 4(d)(3). [Def.’s Mot. Dismiss]. On July 28, 2025, following a hearing by the Honorable S. Bryan Doby a form four was issued denying Appellants’ Motion to Dismiss. [Order Def.’s Mot. Dismiss].

On July 20, 2025, Appellant filed a Motion for Relief from Judgment Pursuant to Rule 60(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. [Def.’s Mot. For Relief from Judgment]. On December 4, 2025, following a hearing, an order was entered into denying Defendants Motion for Relief from Judgment. [Ord. Denying Def.’s Mot. Relief from Default].

On December, 5, 2025, Appellants timely filed a notice of appeal and on December 15, 2025, Appellants timely filed an amended notice of appeal.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Whether to grant or deny a motion under Rule 60(b), SCRCPP, lies within the sound discretion of the trial judge. *BB&T v. Taylor*, 369 S.C. 548, 633 S.E.2d 501 (2006). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court are either controlled by an error of law or are based on unsupported factual conclusions.” *Kiriakides v. Sch. Dist. of Greenville Cnty.*, 382 S.C. 8, 20, 675 S.E.2d 439, 445 (2009). The decision whether to set aside an entry of default or a default judgment lies solely within the sound discretion of the trial judge. *Roberson v. S. Fin. of S.C., Inc.*, 365 S.C. 6, 615 S.E.2d 112 (2005). The trial court’s decision will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear showing of an abuse of that discretion. *Id.* An abuse of discretion in setting aside a default judgment occurs when the judge issuing the order was controlled by some error of

law or when the order, based upon factual, as distinguished from legal conclusions, is without evidentiary support. *Id.*

## ARGUMENTS

This appeal presents a narrow but dispositive question: whether the trial court abused its discretion in granting default based on a procedural defect instead of an adjudication of claims on their merits when this court's longstanding principles favor resolving disputes based on substance rather than procedural irregularities.

**I. The Trial Court abused its discretion when it denied Appellants' motion for relief from judgment under Rule 60(b)(4) of South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure because Respondent failed to properly serve the Appellants.**

The trial court abused its discretion in denying the Appellants' motion for relief from judgment under Rule 60(b)(4) of the South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure based on a purely procedural defect and an intentional circumvention aimed to not provide notice of the proceeding to Appellants.

South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 60(b)(4) provides, "[o]n a motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order or proceeding for the following reasons . . . .(4) the judgment is void." "[A] judgment is void . . . if a court acts without [personal] jurisdiction." *South Carolina Dep't of Revenue v. Elliott*, 350 S.C. 404, 407, 566 S.E.2d 196, 198 (Ct. App. 2002). Service of a summons grants a court personal jurisdiction. *Id.* Pursuant to Rule 4(d)(3) of South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure:

[u]pon a corporation or upon a partnership or other unincorporated association which is subject to suit under a common name, by delivering a copy other summons and complaint to an officer, a managing or general agent or to any other agent authorized by appointment or by law to receive service and if the agent is one

authorized by statute to receive service and the statute so requires by also mailing a copy to the defendant.

“Rule 4, SCRCP, serves at least two purposes. It confers personal jurisdiction on the court and assures the defendant of reasonable notice of the action.” *Roche v. Young Bros., Inc. of Florence*, 318 S.C. 207, 209, 456 S.E.2d 897, 899 (1995). Exacting compliance with the rules is not required to effect service of process. *Roche*, 318 S.C. at 209-10, 456 S.E.2d at 899. “Rather, [the Court must] inquire whether the plaintiff has sufficiently complied with the rules such that the court has personal jurisdiction of the defendant and the defendant has notice of the proceedings.” *Id.* at 210, 456 S.E.2d at 899. “The principal object of service of process is to give notice to the defendant corporation of the proceedings against it.” *Mull v. Ridgeland Realty, LLC*, 387 S.C. 479, 485, 693 S.E.2d 27, 30-31 (2010).

Pursuant to section 15-9-210(b) of the South Carolina Code, corporations “may be served . . . by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the office of the registered agent, or the office of the secretary of the corporation at its principal office.” *Mull v. Ridgeland Realty, LLC*, 387 S.C. 479, 485, 693 S.E.2d 27, 31 (2010). “To interpret the statute as only allowing plaintiffs to serve process on registered agents at the address listed with the Secretary of State would lead to an absurd result” *Id.* at 487. (finding the registered agent being served in an office in New York and not the office listed under the Secretary of State to be sufficient as the Defendant was put on notice of the proceeding).

After three unsuccessful attempts at service, Appellants had no notice of the claims brought forth by the Respondents. [Def.’s Mem. In Supp. Def.’s Mot. for Relief from Default at 8-9]. The affidavits of non-service confirmed what Respondent’s already knew – that the address was wrong. [3/11/24 Affidavit of Non-Service; 5/27/24 Affidavit of Non-Service; 6/24/24 Affidavit of Non-Service]. Rather than correct that defect, Respondent proceeded to serve the Appellants by and

through the South Carolina Secretary of State while relying on the same address. [7/12/24 Affidavit of Service]. Respondents made no effort to identify a correct address before resorting to serving through the Secretary of State while continuing to rely on information they knew to be inaccurate. [Def.'s Mem. In Supp. Def.'s Mot. for Relief from Default]. Proceeding in this manner was not reasonably calculated to provide notice and cannot constitute valid service. [Def.'s Mem. In Supp. Def.'s Mot. for Relief from Default]. Simply put, this was not a good-faith effort at service. [Def.'s Mem. In Supp. Def.'s Mot. for Relief from Default].

In *Mull*, the court affirmed default judgment finding “the principal object of service was achieved.” 387 S.C. 486-487, 693 S.E.2d 27, 31 (2010). The plaintiff learned an attempt at personal service to a limited liability defendant by and through the address on the South Carolina Secretary of State had failed, when the return receipt which accompanied the summons returned unsigned. *Id.* After the plaintiff’s failure to serve the registered agent at the address listed on the South Carolina Secretary of State, Plaintiff conducted due diligence and located the registered agent as a resident of New York state. *Id.* The plaintiff served the registered agent in New York, even though the address on the South Carolina Secretary of State’s website was located in South Carolina. *Id.* The court found the principal object of service was achieved as the service put Defendant on notice of the claims. *Id.* As such, the court affirmed the default.

*Mull* is applicable to the facts of this case. Here, Respondent, *knew* the address listed on the South Carolina Secretary of State was incorrect by and through actual knowledge. [3/11/24 Affidavit of Non-Service; 5/27/24 Affidavit of Non-Service; 6/24/24 Affidavit of Non-Service]. However, Respondent did not conduct any diligence to make any attempt to serve the Appellants outside of the known incorrect address. [Def.'s Mem. In Supp. Def.'s Mot. for Relief from Default.]. Rather, Respondent did the opposite and “served” Appellants with the summons and

complaint by and through the South Carolina Secretary of State, at an address Respondent knew to be incorrect. [Hr’g Transcript Def.’s Mot. to Dismiss]. Respondent knew the address listed on the South Carolina Secretary of State’s website was the same address Respondent attempted to serve by and through a process server. [Def.’s Mem. In Supp. Def.’s Mot. for Relief from Default]. However, Respondent did not attempt any further due diligence searching to locate Appellants until after the Judgment had been entered. [Hr’g Transcript Def.’s Mot. to Dismiss 5-6]. Thereby, resulting in Appellants failing to have notice of this proceeding and defeating the intention and principles of South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 4(d)(3), which is to ensure proper notice and service is given. [Def.’s Mem. In Supp. Def.’s Mot. for Relief from Default].

Despite knowing its prior service attempts had failed and that the address on record was incorrect, Respondent made no meaningful effort to locate Appellants. Respondents did not even conduct a basic internet search until after securing a judgment. This frustrates the fundamental purpose of Rule 4(d)(3), which is to ensure service is reasonably calculated to apprise parties of the action. *Mull v. Ridgeland Realty, LLC*, 387 S.C. 479, 485, 693 S.E.2d 27, 30-31 (2010). Moreover, courts favor a resolution the merits. *Micronics, Inc. v. South Carolina Dep’t of Revenue*, 345 S.C. 506, 511, 548, S.E.2d 223, 226 (2001).

The South Carolina Supreme Court held, “personal service of process should not become a game of wiles and tricks” *BB&T v. Taylor*, 369 S.C. 548, 633 S.E.2d 501 (2006) (finding mere speculation of notice and service enough to grant relief from default). Yet, Respondent had actual knowledge the address to which Respondent was serving Appellants was factually incorrect.

Without proper service, a court cannot possess proper personal jurisdiction over a defendant. *South Carolina Dep’t of Revenue v. Elliott*, 350 S.C. 404, 407, 566 S.E.2d 196, 198 (Ct.

App. 2002). A judgment issued without personal jurisdiction, is void. *Id.* Respondent failed effectuate proper service on Appellants, rendering the judgment void.

For these reasons, the trial court abused its discretion when denying Appellants motion for relief from default. Accordingly, this court should reverse the Trial Court's denial of the Appellants' motion for relief from default, vacate the Judgment in the amount of \$100,434.00 and remand for the case to proceed on the merits.

**II. The Court should reverse the Trial Court's denial of Appellants' motion for relief from default because Appellants' met all factors required for relief under South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure (60)(b)(1).**

The trial court abused its discretion in denying Appellants' motion from default as Appellants met all factors required under Rule 60(b), SCRPC.

Pursuant to Rule 60(B), SCRPC,

[o]n a motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons (1) mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect; (2) newly discovered evidence which by due diligence could not have been discovered in time to move for a new trial under Rule 59(b); (3) fraud, misrepresentation, or other misconduct of an adverse party; (4) the judgment is void; (5) the judgment has been satisfied, released, or discharged, or a prior judgment upon which it is based has been reversed or otherwise vacated, or it no longer equitable that the judgment should have prospective application.

Further, "[t]he motion shall be made within a reasonable time, and for reasons (1), (2), and (3) not more than one year after the judgment, order or proceeding was entered or taken." *Id.*

When determining whether to grant relief, the factors to consider are: (1) the timing of the motion for relief, (2) whether the party requesting relief has a meritorious defense, and (3) the degree of prejudice to the opposing party if relief is granted. *BB & T v. Taylor*, 369 S.C. 548, 553

n.1, 633 S.E.2d 501, 503 n.1 (2006) (citations omitted); *Wham v. Shearson Lehman Bros., Inc.*, 298 S.C. 462, 465, 381 S.E.2d 499, 501-02 (Ct. App. 1989).

**A. Appellants made a good faith and understandable mistake.**

Rule 60(b)(1) is an appropriate remedy for “good faith mistakes of fact” if all other applicable factors are met. See *Columbia Pools, Inc. v. Galvin*, 288 S.C. 59, 61, 339 S.E.2d 524, 525 (Ct. App. 1986). However, a party may not generally use Rule 60(b)(1) as a vehicle for relief from a mistake of law. See *Savage v. Cannon*, 204 S.C. 473, 30 S.E.2d 70 (1944).

To obtain relief, a defaulting party must demonstrate that their failure to respond was “excusable” rather than merely negligent. *ITC Commer. Funding, LLC v. Crerar*, 393 S.C. 487, 713 S.E.2d 335 (2011). Under *ITC Commercial Funding*, the court found that the mistake made by defendant did not amount to “excusable” neglect but rather negligence, as defendant received the summons and complaint and failed to answer. *Id.* The defendant was properly served with the summons in her home via service from the sheriff’s department and communicated with an attorney who promptly and correctly communicated that he could not represent her. *Id.* at 393 S.C. 496, 713 S.E.2d at 339. The defendant then failed to answer the complaint, failed to show she did not receive the complaint and failed to show there was a mental incapacity that prevented her from answering the complaint. *Id.* As such, the court ruled defendant’s neglect was not “excusable” but rather negligence. *Id.* at 393 S.C. 495-96, 713 S.E.2d 339.

Here, Appellants were never even served and therefore lacked notice of service or the timeline or opportunity to respond. The defendant in *ITC Commer. Funding* simply failed to respond after receiving proper notice of the summons. *Id.* at 393 S.C. 496, 713 S.E.2d at 339. Unlike the defendant in *ITC Commer. Funding*, Appellants did not have proper notice of the proceeding, were not served with the summons and complaint and filed a responsive pleading

within ten days of receipt of the judgment. This does amount to excusable neglect and a good faith mistake.

Under *Columbia Pools, Inc., v. Galvin*, the Court of Appeals concluded the trial court did abuse its discretion in failing to find excusable neglect when a date miscalculation caused defendant to fail to file a responsive pleading. 288 S.C. 59, 61, 339 S.E.2d 524, 525 (Ct. App. 1986). The Court concluded this did amount to an inadvertent mistake and excusable neglect. *Id.*

Furthermore, Appellants' registered agent, George McLaughlin, is the registered agent for nineteen active businesses in South Carolina. [Def.'s Memo in Supp. for Def.s' Mot. for Relief from Default at 5-6]. Mr. McLaughlin made a good faith mistake in failing to update his office address with the South Carolina Secretary of State for Appellants.

Here, Appellants did not even have notice to miscalculate a deadline for a responsive pleading. Appellants' failure to file amounts to excusable neglect and a good faith mistake, not negligence. *See ITC Commer. Funding, LLC v. Crerar*, 393 S.C. 487 (2011); *Columbia Pools, Inc. v. Galvin*, 288 S.C. 59, 339 S.E.2d 524, (Ct. App. 1986). As such, a good faith mistake and excusable neglect exist for Appellants failure to answer the summons and complaint.

**B. Appellants acted promptly once Appellants learned of a default judgment.**

South Carolina Rule 60(b) provides, "[t]he motion shall be made within a reasonable time, and for reasons (1), (2), and (3) not more than one year after the judgment, order or proceeding was entered or taken." South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 60(b).

The Judgment was entered in on April 21, 2025. [Judgment Order]. Despite Respondent's inability to serve or locate Appellants at Appellants' primary business location, within days after the Judgment was entered, Respondent delivered a copy of the Judgment to Appellants' primary

business location. [Transcript Hr'g Def.'s Relief Default Judgment at 24]. As soon as Appellants were noticed of a default judgment, they notified their attorney who filed a notice of appearance. [Def.'s Mot. to Dismiss]. Then, less than ten days after entry of judgment, Appellants filed a responsive pleading. [Def.'s Mot. to Dismiss]. Relief was promptly sought and thus Appellants satisfy this factor.

**C. Appellants possess a good reason for failing to act promptly prior to receiving notice of the default judgment.**

The Appellants have good reasons for failing to act because registered agent for Palmetto Shores made a good faith mistake in failing to update its address with the South Carolina Secretary of State. [Def.'s Memo in Supp. for Def.s' Mot. for Relief from Default].

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