RECEIVED

Jul 24 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CLARENDON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable S. Bryan Doby, Circuit Court Judge
The Honorable R. Kirk Griffin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-002568

Elgin M. Selbee,

Respondent,

v.

Palmetto Shores RE Holdings, LLC
and Palmetto Shores RV Management, LLC

Appellants,

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

CHRISTOPHER R. DURANT

S.C. Bar No. 78080

Johnson | DuRant, LLC

411 N. Brooks St.

Manning, SC 29102

(803) 435-0909 (T)

(855) 926-0923 (F)

chris@johnsondurant.law

Attorney for Respondent

July 24, 2026

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

ARGUMENT

Appellants’ argument rests on the flawed premise that this appeal arises from a procedurally defective default judgment; that premise disregards Appellants’ own neglect of a legal duty and the statutory authority and record supporting effective service of process and the resulting judgment.

I. Respondent properly effected service of process on Appellants upon and through the Secretary of State as their statutory agent pursuant to Rule 4(d)(3) and (7), SCRCP and S.C. Code § 33-44-111.

Rule 4, SCRCP, directs that service of process shall be made as follows:

(d)(3) Corporations and Partnerships. Upon a corporation or upon a partnership or other unincorporated association which is subject to suit under a common name, by delivering a copy of the summons and complaint to an officer, a managing or general agent, *or to any other agent authorized* by appointment or *by law to receive*

service of process and if the agent is one authorized by statute to receive service and the statute so requires, by also mailing a copy to the defendant.

(d)(7) Statutory Service. Service upon a defendant of any class referred to in paragraph (1) or (3) of this subdivision of this rule is also sufficient if the summons and complaint are served *in the manner prescribed by statute.*” (emphasis added).

A limited liability company authorized to do business in this State is required by statute to “designate and continuously maintain in this State (1) an office, which need not be a place of business in this State; and (2) an agent and street address for service of process on the company.” § 33-44-108 (2003, as amended). Further, Section 33-44-111 provides that “if a limited liability company ... fails to appoint or maintain an agent for service of process ... or the agent for service of process cannot with reasonable diligence be found at the agent’s address, the Secretary of State *is an agent of the company* upon whom process, notice, or demand may be served.” S.C. Code Ann. § 33-44-111(b) (2003, as amended). (emphasis added).

“Service upon an agent designated by law is permissible without any need to personally serve the defendant. *Holman v. Warwick Furnace Co.*, 318 S.C. 201, 204, 456 S.E.2d 894, 896, (1995) (*citing* 62B Am.Jur.2d Process § 239). “Once a summons and complaint are delivered to the secretary of state, service is complete, regardless of whether the corporation actually receives notice of the suit.” *Id.* “When the civil rules on service are followed, there is a presumption of proper service.” *Roche v. Young Bros., Inc. of Florence*, 318 S.C. 207, 211, 456 S.E.2d 897 (1994) (*citing* 62B Am Jur 2d Process § 111 (1990)). “A plaintiff need only show compliance with the rules.” *Id.*

The record in this matter clearly demonstrates Respondent’s exercise of reasonable diligence in attempting service of process on Appellants’ designated agent at the address maintained by Appellants’ for service of process. As evidenced by the Secretary of State’s records attached to Plaintiff’s Affidavits of Non-Service filed September 11, 2024 (Aff. of Non-Service

3/11/24, p. 3-4), Appellants then maintained a shared registered agent at the same designated address. Respondent first attempted service of process upon the agent by certified mail properly addressed to the agent at the designated address, said mailings having been returned unsigned. (Aff. of Non-Service 3/11/24). The record indicates that Respondent then attempted personal service upon the registered agent through an independent process server at the agent's designated address as well as a separate potential address for the registered agent, obtained by skip trace search, in Myrtle Beach. (Affs. of Non-Service 5/27/24; Affs. of Non-Service 6/24/24). Only after these attempts did Respondent effect statutory service upon the Secretary of State.

Notably, the statute permitting service upon the Secretary of State requires only as a prerequisite that the plaintiff exercise "reasonable diligence" to locate the company's designated agent for service of process "*at the agent's address*" maintained by the company. S.C. Code Ann. § 33-44-111(b) (emphasis added). The statute does not require that a plaintiff attempt to locate the registered agent at locations other than the address designated by the company. In asserting their "basic internet search" theory, Appellants have failed to identify any legal authority requiring a plaintiff to substitute an independently located business address for statutory service upon the Secretary of State after fulfillment of the conditions of S.C. Code Ann. § 33-44-111(b). (AIB p.7). Respondent went above and beyond the requirement of the statute by requesting the process server attempt to locate and effect service on the agent at an address *other* than that designated by Appellant.

Appellants' reliance on *Mull v. Ridgeland Realty, LLC* in support of its lack of reasonable diligence argument is misplaced. *Mull v. Ridgeland Realty, LLC*, 387 S.C. 479, 693 S.E.2d. 27 (Ct. App. 2010). In *Mull*, the court was confronted with the issue as to "whether service via certified mail to a registered agent sent to the agent's out-of-state address constitutes service 'to

the office of the registered agent' ” as provided by S.C. Code Ann. § 15-9-210(b). *Id.* at 486, 693 S.E.2d at 30. Stated differently, the question posed was whether a corporation *may* be served through its registered agent at an address other than that which it maintains for the agent with the Secretary of State. The *Mull* ruling cannot be read as to impose a requirement on a plaintiff to locate the registered agent at any place other than that address maintained with the Secretary of State. Moreover, Respondent attempted to effect service on Appellants in the manner approved by *Mull* by personal service at the Myrtle Beach address. Unfortunately, its efforts were unsuccessful. That failure neither detracts from Respondent's diligent efforts to serve the agent at his designated address, nor required further search for the agent elsewhere.

Appellants' assertion that Respondent's service upon the Secretary of State was invalid because Respondent then knew the registered agent could not be located at his designated address ignores a key distinction in the registration requirements of a limited liability company. S.C. Code Ann. § 33-44-108 provides that a limited liability company is required to designate and continuously maintain

“(1) an office, which need not be a place of business in this State; *and*

(2) an agent and street address of the agent for service of process on the company...”

S.C. Code Ann. § 33-44-108(a) (emphasis added).

The statute requires the company maintain *both* a designated office *and* a registered agent and address for service of process. S.C. Code Ann. § 33-44-108. There is no requirement that the two addresses be the same and, in fact, in practice it is commonly the case that they are not. Moreover, only the registered agent's name and address is published by the Secretary of State. When the agent cannot be located at the designated address, the statute provides that service is permissible upon the Secretary of State, as a designated agent, who then is required to forward the pleadings

to the company's designated office in accordance with its records. S.C. Code § 33-44-111(c). As a result, it was not only proper but in keeping with the applicable rules and all due diligence for Respondent to effect service on the Secretary of State once the agent could not be found at its registered address, with the expectation that the Secretary of State would then forward the pleadings on to Appellants' designated offices. As Respondent later discovered upon receipt of the Secretary of State's record of mailing to Appellants, Appellants just so happened to have then maintained stale addresses for both its registered agent and its designated offices. (Aff. of Service 9/11/24).

Contrary to Defendants' assertions, the Secretary of State is not merely a conduit through which a plaintiff may attempt actual delivery upon a limited liability company defendant. Instead, by statute, "the Secretary of State *is an agent of the company* upon whom process, notice, or demand may be served." S.C. Code Ann. § 33-44-111(b) (emphasis added). This is consistent with the Rules of Civil Procedure which permit service of process upon a company defendant by "delivering a copy of the summons and complaint to an ... *agent authorized by appointment or by law to receive service of process.*" Rule 4(d)(3), SCRPC. (emphasis added). This point was made clear by the Court in the *Holman* case, cited above. In that case, our Supreme Court, in interpreting S.C. Code Ann. § 15-9-245 which provides the manner for service of process on a foreign corporation not authorized to do business in South Carolina, which statute includes similar language stating that such an entity "is considered to have designated the Secretary of State as its agent upon whom process against it may be served," ruled that "once a summons and complaint are delivered to the secretary of state, service is complete, regardless of whether the corporation actually receives notice of the suit." *Holman*, 456 S.E.2d at 896, 318 S.C. at 204 (1995) (emphasis added). The Court then affirmed "the general rule that service upon an agent designated by law is

permissible without any need to personally serve the defendant.” *Id.* (citing 62B Am.Jur.2d Process § 239).

S.C. Code Ann. § 33-44-111 further expands upon the above-stated rule by extending the date of effectiveness of service to “the earliest of: (1) the date the company receives the process, notice, or demand; (2) the date shown on the return receipt, if signed on behalf of the company; or (3) five days after its deposit in the mail, if mailed postpaid and correctly addressed. S.C. Code Ann. § 33-44-111(c). Here, the Secretary of State accepted service of the Summons and Complaint on July 11, 2024 and July 5, 2024, respectively, as to each Appellant, and deposited the same in the mail on July 12, 2024 and July 9, 2024. Under the rules, service became effective five days thereafter.

The statutory service process exists precisely for those companies, like Appellants, that fail to maintain an agent or workable address. Appellants’ attempt to characterize Respondent’s use of the statutory service procedure as “an intentional circumvention aimed to not provide notice” is contrary to the record and statutory framework. (AIB p.4). As Appellants have failed to show any jurisdictional defect, the circuit court correctly rejected their assertion that the judgement was void under Rule 60(b)(4), SCRCF.

II. The circuit court acted within its discretion in denying Rule 60(b)(1) relief.

Appellants’ alternative Rule 60(b)(1) theory fails independently of their service challenge. Once a default judgment has been entered, a movant must satisfy Rule 60(b)’s more rigorous standard, rather than the good-cause standard that may govern relief from an entry of default under Rule 55(c). *Sundown Operating Co., Inc. v. Intedex Industries, Inc.*, 383 S.C. 601, 608–09, 681 S.E.2d 885, 888–89 (2009). The circuit court correctly applied that heightened standard and acted within its discretion in denying relief.

a. Appellants' failure to maintain correct statutory service information was neither a mistake of fact nor excusable neglect.

Appellants' stated "mistake" was their registered agent's failure to update the address listed with the Secretary of State. (Ord. 12/4/25, p.4-5; Def. Mem. Supp. Rule 60 Mot., p. 3–4). That was a failure to maintain the statutory service information required of an LLC, not a good faith factual error. See S.C. Code Ann. §§ 33-44-108, 111. The consequence of Appellants' failure to maintain that information cannot be shifted to Respondent, who used the statutory process that became available when the registered agent could not be found at the address Appellants themselves had provided. See S.C. Code § 33-44-111.

The circuit court found that Appellants presented no evidence that a factual mistake resulted in their failure to maintain a usable designated office and registered agent address. (Ord. 12/4/25, p.6). Further, the court correctly ruled that "a party may not use Rule 60(b)(1) as a vehicle for relief from a mistake of law." *Id. citing Coleman v. Dunlap*, 306 S.C. 491, 495, 413 S.E.2d 15, 17 (1992).

Appellants have provided no factual or legal justification for their neglect beyond the assertion that the registered agent served nineteen other entities. (Ord. 12/4/25 p.6; Appellants' Mem. Supp. Rule 60 Mot. p. 3–4.) That explanation does not amount to a particularized showing of mistake, inadvertence, or excusable neglect that warrants disturbing a final judgment. *See ITC Commercial Funding, LLC v. Crerar*, 393 S.C. 487, 496–97, 713 S.E.2d 335, 339–40 (Ct. App. 2011) (affirming denial of Rule 60(b) relief where the movant failed to establish excusable neglect).

South Carolina jurisprudence supports Rule 60(b)(1) relief on the basis of objectively reasonable good-faith factual mistakes. *See Williams v. Watkins*, 384 S.C. 319, 681 S.E.2d 914 (Ct. App. 2009) (finding a litigant reasonably relied on a separate court-issued roster in not

attending the scheduled trial); *also see Micronics, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 345 S.C. 506, 548 S.E.2d 223 (Ct. App. 2001) (finding a good-faith mistake of fact existed when a party recorded an incorrect hearing date and failed to appear at the scheduled trial); *also see Thompson v. Hammond*, 299 S.C. 116, 382 S.E.2d 900 (1988) (finding landowners who had given notice of their opposition to a road closure and secured county council's commitment to oppose the action, were entitled to relief when council later reversed course and the landowners did not receive notice of council's change in position or the hearing date). Those cases involved parties who acted with diligence before default or judgment was entered and were nonetheless prejudiced by objectively reasonable factual mistakes. This case is clearly distinguishable. Appellants' default resulted not from a documented good-faith factual error beyond their control, but from their own carelessness, inattention or disregard of a legal duty.

b. Post-judgment promptness alone does not merit Rule 60(b) relief.

The fact that Appellants promptly filed for relief after entry of judgment does not itself establish entitlement to relief. Promptness is considered alongside the reason for the default, the existence of a meritorious defense, and prejudice; it does not displace the requirement that the movant first demonstrate a recognized and adequately supported Rule 60(b) ground. *Sundown*, 383 S.C. at 608–09, 681 S.E.2d at 888–89. Here, the circuit court reasonably determined that post-judgment promptness did not cure Appellants' failure to maintain an effective registered-agent address or supply an evidentiary basis for mistake or excusable neglect. (Ord. 12/4/25). Appellants have therefore shown no abuse of discretion on such grounds.

c. Appellants failed to establish a meritorious defense with competent evidence.

A Rule 60(b) movant must present evidence proving the facts essential to relief, including a *prima facie* meritorious defense where relief is sought from a default judgment under Rule

60(b)(1). *ITC Commercial Funding*, 393 S.C. at 497–98, 713 S.E.2d at 340. Unverified allegations and arguments of counsel are not evidence. *Bowers v. Bowers*, 304 S.C. 65, 67–68, 403 S.E.2d 127, 128–29 (Ct. App. 1991). While Appellant attempted to assert factual defenses related to the underlying altercation in its memorandum signed by counsel, the circuit court correctly ruled that Appellants presented no affidavit or other competent evidence establishing those facts. (Def. Mem. Supp. Rule 60 Mot. p. 5–8; Ord. 12/4/25). The court was not required to set aside a final judgment on unsupported factual assertions. *Bowers*, 304 S.C. at 67–68, 403 S.E.2d at 128–29. This Court need not decide the merits of Appellants’ proposed defenses. The dispositive point is procedural: Appellants did not carry their burden to make the evidence-based showing Rule 60(b) requires. The circuit court accordingly acted within its discretion in denying relief.

III. The circuit court’s denial of Appellant’s Rule 4 motion provides no independent basis for reversal.

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